Modulation of microglia-T cell interaction as treatment of Parkinson's Disease





Utrecht University Dept of Pharmaceutical Sciences Masters program *Drug Innovation* Kirsten Szklany Student number: 3110214

Supervisor: Dr. A. D. Kraneveld Second reviewer: Dr. S. M. Korte

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by damage and loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra. Motor dysfunction is a result of damage and loss of these dopaminergic neurons. The cause of PD is unknown and therefore no cure is available. The only treatment of PD is symptomatic treatment by inducing the level of dopamine. Accumulation of α -synuclein and neuroinflammation are known to be major factors in the pathogenesis of PD.

Accumulation of the pre-synaptic protein α -synuclein is the main protein found in lewy body inclusions. These lewy bodies are settled in the central nervous system and in the gastro intestinal tract (GI tract) in PD patients. In PD the α -synuclein is misfolded and this leads to different structures, reports indicate an oligomer structure to be the most toxic. α -synuclein activates microglia and triggers neuroinflammation.

Microglia are the residential macrophages in the CNS. Peripheral macrophages are activated into a classical activated phenotype being pro-inflammatory or an alternative activated phenotype which is anti-inflammatory. Data indicate that also a pro- and an anti-inflammatory phenotype of microglia exist. The classical activated phenotype is induced by IFN- γ and TNF- α and the alternative activated phenotype is induced by IL-10 and/or IL-4. Phagocytic activity is an important mechanism in clearance of infectious agents, the alternative activated microglia phenotype possess a higher phagocytic activity than the classical activated phenotype. The α -synuclein-activated microglia in PD secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β and IFN- γ and the pro-inflammatory mediator nitric oxide resulting in neuron damage and death. This indicates α -synuclein to activate the classical activated microglia phenotype in PD. Furthermore the microglia in PD express the surface marker MHC-II; indicating that microglia can activate T cells. Microglia are not only neurotoxic they are also able to secrete the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and TGF- β and BDNF which is a neuroprotective factor. This indicates that microglia are both neurotoxic and neuro-protective. There might be a balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory microglia and in PD this balance is skewed to the pro-inflammatory phenotype.

Inflammation of the substantia nigra and striatum is detected in PD patients with infiltration of both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells. $CD4^+$ T cells were found to be more essential in the pathogenesis of PD than $CD8^+$. T cells are activated by microglia but also by α -synuclein in the cervical lymph node. After activation the α -synuclein specific T cells migrate to the CNS and activate microglia. Th1 and Th17 might be the $CD4^+$ T cells subsets involved in PD as the cytokines IL-1, IL-6, IL17 and IFN- γ secreted by these cells stimulate classical activated microglia to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide. This indicates that the balance of the $CD4^+$ T cell subsets is skewed towards a pro-inflammatory response, thus Th1 and Th17. Indications showed Tregs to be involved in PD, but the exact role is unknown. Although data on the number and function of Tregs in PD is inconsistent, reports indicate Tregs to decrease the activation of microglia and the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines by induced production of IL-10 and TGF- β .

As α -synuclein is detected in the GI tract and it is known that PD patients have GI tract problems decades before PD onset, a hypothesis exist that PD starts in the enteric nervous system and affect the CNS through the vagus nerve. A report showed inflammation of the GI tract in PD patients and up-regulation of enteric glial markers indicating that also these cells are involved in PD. Although

accumulation of α -synuclein is found in the GI tract, more research is necessary to investigate the consequences and to clear which neurons are damaged.

As only symptomatic treatment is available it is important to find a way to stop accumulation of α -synuclein and to stop the inflammation. Both accumulation of α -synuclein and inflammation need to be stopped to reduce the progression of PD. The inflammation might be stopped by modulation of the microglia-T cell interaction. By inducing IL-10 producing Tregs, the phenotype of microglia can be changed to the alternative activated microglia, in addition the balance of T cell subsets is skewed towards equilibrium being less pro-inflammatory. Tregs can be induced by adoptive transfer of Tregs or by administration of VIP. VIP also induces motility of the GI tract in PD patients and is therefore a promising treatment. In addition to VIP treatment, medical food like poly-unsaturated fatty acids are found to possess neuroprotective properties and to suppress Th17 activities in the mucosal immune system and might be beneficial in PD. More research is necessary to reveal the role of Tregs in PD both in the CNS and in the ENS, but I am confident that induction of Tregs will reduce the neuroinflammation in PD patients.

Table of Contents

Abstract 1
Introduction
$\alpha\text{-synuclein}$ activation of microglia in PD
Role of microglia in PD
Microglia phenotypes
Phagocytosis by microglia9
Microglia in PD9
T cells in PD 11
The role of Th1 and Th17 in neuroinflammation in PD11
T cells and microglia interaction12
Regulatory T cells
Parkinson's disease in the GI tract14
Stages of PD14
$\alpha\text{-synuclein}$ in the GI tract
Loss of neurons in the GI tract in PD15
Inflammation of the gut in PD16
Enteric glial cells
Current and future treatment
Discussion
Abbreviations
References

Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease after Alzheimer's disease (AD) (1). 1.2 million people are diagnosed with PD in Europe and that number is still increasing (2-4). Two types of PD exist; the familial is about 10% of the PD cases and characterized by early onset and show mutations in several genes like parkin and leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2). 90% of the PD cases are sporadic and diagnosed later than the familial PD patients (5).

PD is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra and striatum. The nigrostriatal pathway projecting from the substantia nigra pars compacta to the putamen in the striatum is composed of dopaminergic neurons. Degeneration of these dopaminergic neurons results in less secreted dopamine from the pre-synaptic neuron, consequently, the post-synaptic neuron is not activated and causes tremor, rigidity and bradykinesia (6). These symptoms worsen as the disease progresses. In addition to dopaminergic neurons, also adrenergic neurons are damage. The synthesis of noradrenaline, a neurotransmitter secreted from adrenergic neurons, is hydroxylated dopamine, indicating that when dopaminergic neurons are damage adrenergic neurons are also damaged (7). The cause of PD is unknown, though it is known that α -synuclein and neuroinflammation play a role. However, it still remains to be solved if neuroinflammation is causing dopaminergic loss or is a consequence of the neurodegeneration. In brain regions of PD patients lewy bodies are found, these are inclusions of protein aggregation mainly consistent of α -synuclein. α -synuclein is a protein found in the brain (8). The physiologic function of α -synuclein is not very well known but on the basis of mouse models α -synuclein is thought to play a role in constructing vesicles for dopamine storage in the synapsis of neurons (8). α synuclein binds to phosphor membranes and as a result the secondary structure of α -synuclein changes and the vesicle is formed. When no vesicles are formed dopamine cannot be stored resulting in auto-oxidation and forming of free radicals. These free radicals can damage the neurons and oxidize α -synuclein making it even less functional (8). The current treatment for PD is Levodopa (which is transformed into dopamine in the brain), dopamine agonists and dopamine breakdown inhibitors, these drugs increase the level of dopamine, but this is only symptomatic treatment, for this reason it is important to find the cause of PD to cure this disease or find a way to inhibit the progression of the disease.

Neuroinflammation in the brain is a major factor in PD pathophysiology with microglia and CD4⁺ T cells as main players (9) (figure 1). CD4⁺ T cells are differentiated into several subsets; T helper (Th)1, Th2, Th17 and regulatory T cells (Treg) (10). These subsets affect each other by cytokine secretion and expression of transcription factors; hereby the subsets are capable of regulating the differentiation of each other. These regulatory mechanisms establish a balance between the subsets. Under healthy circumstances the balance between these subsets is in equilibrium but in allergy the balance is Th2 skewed and in chronic inflammations Th1 skewed. The balance between Th17 and Tregs is often skewed towards Th17 in autoimmune diseases. Mounting evidence show that Tregs is an essential immune regulator in both health and disease, Tregs keep the homeostasis of the immune system in healthy situations and prevent development of autoimmune diseases by inhibiting the survival of auto-reactive T cells (10-13). In several diseases like multiple sclerosis and arthritis Tregs are less functional and a skewed balance occur between the CD4⁺ subsets and therefore makes it difficult to cure these diseases (12, 14).

In addition to inflammation in the brain and motor dysfunction PD patients often have gastrointestinal tract (GI tract) problems which occur decades before diagnosis (15). In the past decade and it still is today a highly debated subject whether the disease initiates in the enteric nervous system (ENS) or not (16-19). Among others detection of α -synuclein in the GI tract and inflammation in the colon of PD patients show that the ENS is involved in PD, but if the settling of α -synuclein and colon inflammation is the beginning of the disease or a consequence of the neurodegeneration in the substantia nigra and striatum, remains to be clarified (20).

As it is known that neuroinflammation is involved in PD, the purpose of this literature review was to answer the question: Is it possible to treat Parkinson's disease by modulating the interaction of α -synuclein activated microglia and CD4⁺ T cells by inducing Tregs in the brain and in the GI tract?

To answer this question the current knowledge of the action of microglia and CD4⁺ T cells in PD is described. The first part of the review describes the different phenotypes of microglia, the following part describes the role of T cells and the interaction between T cells and microglia and in the third part is the effect of PD in the ENS discussed. At the end the current and experimental treatments of PD are lined out.

α -synuclein activation of microglia in PD

 α -synuclein is a pre-synaptic protein found in the central nervous system (CNS) in dopaminergic and adrenergic neurons both intracellular and extracellular (21, 22). According to post-mortem analysis α -synuclein and activated microglia are present in the substantia nigra of PD patients (23). Aggregated and un-aggregated α -synuclein is found in lewy bodies in synapses of PD patients but also in the GI tract, spinal cord, vagus nerve sympathetic ganglion and sciatic nerve (16, 21, 24, 25). Reports indicate that aggregation of α -synuclein is necessary to activate microglia to be neurotoxic (26-29).

In PD α -synuclein is misfolded, the cause of the misfolding of α -synuclein in human is unknown. Some mutations are found to cause misfolding of α -synuclein , but these mutations are only seen in patients with early onset PD (30). The mutations A53T and A30P are known to cause misfolding of α synuclein in PD animal models (31). Several structures of α -synuclein are detected, monomers associate and form dimers which attach to other dimers and form oligomers and protofibrils and finally grow into aggregates (32). It is still unknown which structure is the most toxic, although oligomers caused the most death of dopaminergic neurons and might be the most toxic structure (33).

Recently Beraud et al. (34) reported up-regulation of Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and TLR3 expression on microglia by α -synuclein and that microglia were activated through these receptors. α -synuclein can also activate microglia through receptors like TLR4, CD36 and integrin αM . A peptide of α -synuclein is presented in the major histocompatibility complex-II (MHC-II) making the microglia able to activate T cells (35-37). Hereby α-synuclein activates microglia directly and triggers neuroinflammation in absence of neurodegeneration (26, 38-40). This indicates that neuroinflammation might cause the neurodegeneration in PD. Forsyth et al. (17) found a strong correlation between α -synuclein and oxidative stress. Also the pro-inflammatory microglia phenotype and production of oxidative stress is caused by a specific structure of misfolded α -synuclein and other studies found monomeric α synuclein to induce a stronger pro-inflammatory response than aggregated α -synuclein (28, 37, 41). Based on expression, production and release of pro-inflammatory mediators, it is suggested that α synuclein activates the classical phenotype of microglia (28, 38). The phenotypes of microglia are discussed in the next chapter. In addition to microglia activation in the CNS, α -synuclein is able to diffuse to the cerebral lymph node (CLN) where antigen presenting cells (APCs) are present and activate α -synuclein specific T cells (figure 1). These newly activated T cells migrate to the CNS where they secrete cytokines and re-activate microglia and the inflammation is started (42).



Figure 1. In PD pathophysiology microglia are activated by aggregated α -synuclein. Classical activated microglia secrete pro-inflammatory mediators like cytokines and free radicals which damage neurons. α -synuclein is always present and this results in chronic activation of microglia. α -synuclein also diffuses to the cervical lymph node where α -synuclein peptides are presented to T cells by APCs. α -synuclein specific T cells are migrating to the CNS where pro-inflammatory cytokines are secreted and induce chronic activation of microglia and damage of neurons. (141)

Role of microglia in PD

Microglia are the resident macrophages in the CNS and are thought to play an essential role in the pathophysiology of PD. Ouchi et al. (43) showed by positron emission tomography (PET) markers that accumulation of activated microglia in the midbrain is higher in PD patients than in healthy subjects, furthermore they reported a positive correlation between activated microglia and age in healthy subjects but not in PD patients, which might be because of the highly increased severity of microglia activation in PD patients. Also, a positive correlation between activated microglia and disease severity in PD patients was found (43). In contrast, Gerhard et al. (44) found no correlation between microglia activation and severity of disease but did find increased microglia activation in PD patients compared to healthy subjects in the following brain regions: basal ganglia including the striatum striatum, pons and cortex.

Microglia phenotypes

In the periphery macrophages observe the surroundings for foreign invaders. In the CNS this is the task of microglia. Macrophages are activated into different phenotypes; the classical activated, the alternative activated and the wound-healing phenotype (Table 1). These three phenotypes can be illustrated as a circle where the phenotypes overlap each other, in other words, it is possible to encounter types of macrophages that show a phenotype in between the three phenotypes mentioned above (45, 46). The classical activated macrophage is the pro-inflammatory phenotype induced by Interferon- γ (IFN- γ), Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) and TLRs and as a result of activation this phenotype increases the expression of MHC-II, production of reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI) and reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNI) and the levels of secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , Interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-23, IL-6 and IL-12 (45, 47). The wound-healing phenotype is induced by IL-4 and/or IL-13 and expresses MHC-II, IL-10 and IL-1ra. The alternative activated phenotype that do not express MHC-II, but secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL10, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and IL-1ra and express the receptor antagonist arginase-1 (reviewed in (45, 47)).

	Induced by	Secrete
Classical activated MΦ	IFN-γ, TNF-α	TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, NO, IL-12
Alternative activated $M\Phi$	IL-10	IL-10, TGF-β, IL-1ra
Wound-healing MΦ	IL-4, IL-13	IL-10, IL-1ra

Table 1. The macrophage phenotypes, which cytokines induce the phenotype and the mediators they secrete

As microglia have a similar role in the CNS as macrophages have in the periphery, it is likely that different phenotypes of activated microglia exist as well, although up to date this is not well established, but reports indicate that different phenotypes of microglia are involved in inflammation, neurodegeneration and neuroprotection of the CNS (48-53). Perry et al. reviewed the role of microglia in neurodegenerative diseases and indicated that microglia adopt to several phenotypes when activated, the activated phenotype depends on the disease, the stage of the disease and composition of the microenvironment. The phenotypes range from one extreme to the other from pro-inflammatory phenotypes to anti-inflammatory, like the phenotypes will be used as the range of

microglia phenotypes is from pro- to anti-inflammatory. Durafourt et al. (52) found that microglia are similar to macrophages but the phenotypes are not exactly the same. Classical activated macrophages and microglia were generated by IFN-y activation of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) treated monocytes and microglia, respectively. The microglia showed similar phenotypic properties as classical activated macrophages both expressing the surface marker CD80 and secreting the cytokine IL-12 and TNF- α . In contrast, the microglial phenotype adopted after stimulation with IL-4 and IL-13 express other surface markers than the alternative activated macrophage phenotype adopted after IL-4 and IL-13 activation. This suggests that different phenotypes of microglia exist although different form the macrophage phenotypes. On the other hand, Michelucci et al. (51) found phenotypes of pro- and anti-inflammatory microglia when treated with IFN- γ and IL-4/IL-10, respectively. Microglia treated with IFN- γ showed high expression of IL-6 and TNF- α suggesting a pro-inflammatory phenotype. Michelucci (51) looked at specific antiinflammatory markers, which indicates that microglia adopt an anti-inflammatory phenotype when treated with IL-4 expressing reduced levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β and induced level of the alternative activation transcription factor arginase I. Durafourt (52) only used expression of IL-12 and IL-10 to determine pro- and anti-inflammatory functional microglia and found the alternative activated phenotype to be neither pro- or anti-inflammatory. The discrepancy between the two studies might be because Durafourt et al. only looked at IL-12 and IL-10 to determine if the phenotype was pro- or anti-inflammatory.

Phagocytosis by microglia

Phagocytosis is a very important mechanism in clearing infectious agents in the body; phagocytosis is a function of macrophages. As soon as an infectious agents is passing the physical barrier phagocytic cells like macrophages bind this agent by receptors like TLRs, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) receptor and scavenger receptor and consequently the infectious agent is ingested and killed (54). Michelucci et al. (51) clearly found phagocytic activity of microglia to be increased when microglia were treated with IL-10, but no difference when treated with IL-4 compared with non-stimulated microglia. In addition, classically activated microglia are less phagocytic than alternative activated microglia. This is consistent with the findings of Durafourt et al. (52), where classical activated microglia were less phagocytic than non-activated microglia and alternative activated microglia treated with IL-4. They also found microglia to be more phagocytic than macrophages. This suggests that IL-10 can induce phagocytosis of microglia. In PD aggregated α -synuclein is the component that is thought to cause the neuron damage and thus the agent that is recognized by microglia to be phagocytized. An in vitro study showed that monomeric α -synuclein induces phagocytic activity of microglia but aggregated α synuclein reduces the phagocytic activity of microglia (55). If this is the case in PD patients then the phagocytic activity of microglia is inhibited by aggregated α -synuclein and α -synuclein is not cleared and consequently increases the level of aggregated α -synuclein. That microglia are less phagocytic in the presence of aggregated α -synuclein agrees with the indication that classical activated microglia have reduced phagocytic activity. Inducing alternative activated microglia could be used as a possible treatment of PD as the phagocytic activity is induced and aggregated α -synuclein is cleared.

Microglia in PD

In a healthy situation microglia survey the CNS and detect foreign invaders. Depending on the type of invader/damage the microglia will change into a pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotype; this change is also dependent on the composition of the microenvironment (56). The microglia fight and clear the invader by phagocytosis and activate the adaptive immune system to support the clearance of the

invader and to protect the neurons (56, 57). After clearing the pathogen microglia return into the surveying state (56, 58). In PD microglia are continuously activated and do not return to their resting state (44).

Activated microglia enhance MHC-II expression in PD animal models (48, 50, 59). The MHC-II expression is also enhanced in the substantia nigra of PD patients (60, 61). A very small expression of MHC-II is found in healthy subjects (60). The expression of MHC-II on microglia after activation indicates that they can act as APCs. This theory is supported by Depboylo et al. (50) as they found 80% of the infiltrated CD3⁺ T cells to be close by or directly bound to MHC-II⁺ microglia.

The activated microglia in the substantia nigra of PD patients secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-6, IL1- β and IFN- γ , furthermore is also intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) expressed in the substantia nigra (38, 51, 62-65). α -synuclein activated microglia showed no change in expression of IL-4, IL-13 and Arginase I, the markers for alternative activated microglia (38). This indicates that α -synuclein activates microglia to adopt a classical activated phenotype.

Pro-inflammatory cytokines secreted from microglia cause neuron damage and death, what makes these microglia neurotoxic. These secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines might bind to receptors on neurons which activate cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and results in neuron death (9, 66, 67). In addition to secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, NO and superoxide released by α -synuclein microglia also damage neurons and play a role in neurodegeneration (figure 1) (68-72). Conversely, microglia are also neuroprotective when neurotrophic factors like brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β are secreted. In early PD there might be "a steady state" (equilibrium) between pro- and anti-inflammatory microglia. At a certain point during the disease, the neurotrophic microglia are not able to keep up with the neurotoxic microglia as they are constantly activated by accumulated α -synuclein and the balance is skewed towards the classical/neurotoxic microglia phenotype. This is suggested by Li et al. (49) as they reported the effect of microglia to depend on the intensity of the stimulation; low stimulation makes the microglia act neurotrophic and high stimulation results in less viability of the neurons. This might simulate early and late stage of PD, respectively.

T cells in PD

Inflammation of the substantia nigra, striatum and cerebrospinal fluid is detected in both PD animal models and in PD patients with infiltration of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (38, 50, 73-76). Infiltration of T cells is detected in both early and late stage of PD suggesting T cells to play a role in both neurodegeneration and neuron cell death (38, 48). Natural killer (NK) cells are not involved and the role of B cells is debatable as some reports show B cells do play a role whereas others claim that they do not (38, 50, 73). The role of B and NK cells is beyond the purpose of this review and will not be discussed further. In PD animal models the density of $CD8^+$ T cells is higher than $CD4^+$ in the substantia nigra and striatum (50, 73, 77). In CD8⁺ deficient mice neurodegeneration still occurs in the substantia nigra, whereas the neurodegeneration in the substantia nigra in CD4⁺ deficient mice is not different from saline treated mice; indicating the role of CD4⁺ T cells to be more essential in neurodegeneration and neuron death in the substantia nigra than CD8⁺ T cells in 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) mouse model (50, 73). Beers et al. (78) found CD4⁺ T cells to be neurotoxic but also neuroprotective in Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), another neurodegenerative disease similar to PD. Later Beers et al. (79) showed that Tregs, a CD4⁺ T cell subtype was responsible for the neuroprotective properties of CD4⁺ T cells. The role of Tregs in PD is discussed further down.

The role of Th1 and Th17 in neuroinflammation in PD

Brocard et al. (73) showed that T cells are infiltrated in the CNS and actively participating in damaging dopamine neurons in MPTP treated mice after microglia activation, but also Benner et al. (42) showed CD4⁺ T cells to be a main player in neurodegeneration by using MPTP injected severe combined immune deficiency syndrome (SCID) mice (B and T cell deficient mice). Brocard et al. (73) found the $CD4^+$ T cells to be harmful independently of IFN- γ , which might indicate that Th1 is not the main player, on the other hand it has been reported that Th1 can mediate cytotoxicity independently of IFN-y (80). The damage in the substantia nigra and striatum might be due to other cytokines like TNF- α (74, 81). Moreover Th1 cells secrete IFN-y which promote classical activated microglia and play a role in neurodegeneration (82). In addition to Th1, Th17 might play a role in the neuroinflammation in PD. The up-regulated expression of the Th17 transcription factor, retinoic acid-related orphan receptor-yt (RORyt), and increased secretion of the Th17 cytokine, IL-17, indicate Th17 to be an important participant in other neurodegenerative diseases (83-85). Furthermore, a report showed that Th17 cells are able to disrupt the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and promote CNS inflammation, additionally Th17 are able to kill neurons by expression of granzyme B (85). The role of Th17 in PD is not well established, only a few reports indicate the participation of Th17 in PD (73, 86, 87). Reynolds et al. (86) reported increased production of IL-17 and IL-6 by T cells in α -synuclein immunized mice. In addition, an outrageous number of dying neurons occurred when Th17 cells were adoptively transferred to MPTP treated mice; the percentage surviving neurons was only 5% of the control group treated with PBS (86). As the expression of Th17 markers increased, a decrease in Th1 (IFN- γ), Th2 and Treg (IL-2) markers in α -synuclein immunized mice were detected (86). This indicates Th17 to be involved in the neuroinflammation in PD patients (figure 1) (86) and the balance of T cell subsets to be skewed towards Th17.

Th1 and Th17 cells are producers of pro-inflammatory cytokines and secrete IL-1, IL-6, IL17 and IFN- γ which stimulate microglia to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species and NO (figure 1) (51, 62-64, 68, 69, 72, 82, 86, 88). Baba et al. (89) showed the percentage of IL-4 producing

T cells in peripheral blood of PD patients to be decreased and the percentage IFN- γ producing T cells was unchanged. The ratio of IFN- γ and IL4 producing T cells was increased, this indicates a skewed balance towards Th1 response, but this is not possible as the IFN- γ is unchanged. This might indicate that another subset like Th17 is involved to decrease the IL4 producing T cells, unfortunately the IL-17 producing T cells was not evaluated.

T cells and microglia interaction

Microglia and T cells interact and are able to activate each other in a positive feedback mechanism. As previously discussed T cells can be activated in the CLN by other APCs than microglia, these activated T cells migrate to the CNS and activate microglia (42). Classical activated microglia promote proliferation and function of Th1 cells (90). Th1 cells secrete IFN- γ which promotes classical activated microglia and production of IFN- γ and IL-6 (82, 91, 92). Also Th17 might influence microglia by secreting IL-17 (85). Furthermore, alternative activation of microglia reduces proliferation and function of Th1 cells secrete IL-4 which inhibits the production of free radicals by microglia (93).

Regulatory T cells

Mounting evidence show that T effector cells are damaging in neurodegenerative diseases (9, 73, 86, 94), but Beers et al. (78) suggested CD4⁺ T cells to be neuroprotective in ALS. The markers for classical microglia activation were increased and alternative microglia activation markers were decreased in a T cell depleted mouse model indicating that a subtype of CD4⁺ T cells skews the classical microglia activation into alternative activated microglia which are neuroprotective (78, 79). Tregs are responsible for the neuroprotective function (79). Tregs are able to induce alternative activated microglia and reduce the speed of the progression of ALS. Tregs reduce the inflammation and try to keep the progression of the disease at a stable level by skewing the microglia phenotype to alternatively activated microglia. As the disease accelerates Th1 induces classical activated microglia and pro-inflammatory factors are present and the Tregs are not able to skew the phenotype back to alternative activated microglia (79). This is consistent with the fact that the number of Tregs is decreased in blood from ALS patients; this is probably because they migrate to the CNS to try to modulate the immune response (79, 95, 96). At a later stage of the disease the number of Tregs is increased, maybe because the phenotype of microglia is skewed to the classical/pro-inflammatory phenotype and the Treg are not recruited to the CNS anymore (95). The number of Tregs in blood is also decreased in PD patients compared with healthy controls. This indicates that the immune response going on in the CNS of PD patients is similar to the response in ALS patients, as described above, but this has to be confirmed (89). Contradictory, Saunders et al. (94) reported no difference in the number of Tregs in blood PD patients compared with controls; this is reported by others as well (97). Reynolds et al. (86) reported Tregs from α -synuclein immunized mice to be less functional than Tregs from naïve mice. This is in agreement with the findings of Saunders et al. (94), that Tregs are less suppressive in PD thus less functional compared with controls but Rosenkrants et al. (97) reported the suppressive function of Tregs in PD to be higher than controls. As not much is known about Tregs in PD neuroinflammation and the results are inconsistent more research is necessary before a clear mechanism can be purposed but it is clear that Tregs are involved in the pathophysiology of PD.

Dr. Gendelman's Lab is one of the few groups publishing on the role of Tregs in PD. Reports from this group showed Tregs to decrease the activation of microglia induced by MPTP and the production of

 H_2O_2 , ROI and the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF-α, IFN-γ, IL-6 and IL-1. They also showed Tregs to induce the expression of Forkhead box protein 3 (Foxp3), TGF-β and IL-10 in the midbrain of MPTP mice (91). The midbrain contains the substantia nigra where dopaminergic neurons degenerate in PD. This indicates that Tregs inhibit the function of microglia in PD. Furthermore, Tregs induced apoptosis of microglia through FasL-Fas interactions (92) and induced neuron survival; the percentage of surviving neurons was 80% in MPTP treated mice with adoptive transfer of Tregs from α-synuclein immunized mice compared with 34% survival in mice treated with MPTP only (86, 91). Tregs modulated microglia to be actively phagocytic and secrete regulatory factors to maintain CNS homeostasis (98). All these results indicate that Tregs convert microglia into a neuroprotective phenotype, the alternative activated microglia (92). Furthermore, Tregs also increased the secretion of the neuroprotective factors BDNF and glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (91).

FasL-Fas pathway probably has a significant role in neurodegeneration, as Saunders et al. (94) found Fas expression on T cells to be significantly more in PD patients than in controls and the FasL-Fas pathway was found to play a role in the damage and/or death of neurons (73, 92, 94). MPTP injected mice showed expression of Fas on neurons; 40% of the dopaminergic neurons expressed Fas, noteworthy is that Fas was not expressed on microglia in the substantia nigra (99) and this is inconsistent with the findings of Reynolds et al. (92). In addition, FasL is expressed on 80% of Tregs in presence of α -synuclein activated microglia, this demonstrate that the regulating role of Tregs might occur through the FasL-Fas pathway (92). This is notable as it indicates Tregs to kill the Fas expressing neurons through the FasL-Fas pathway, this is not agreeable with the findings of Reynolds et al. that Tregs are neuroprotective (92). A hypothesis is that when neurons are damaged they express Fas and are turned into apoptosis by Tregs. On the other hand, Fas is also expressed on effector T cells whereas Tregs might kill these damaging cells as well. It is clear that more research is needed to find out the exact mechanism of the FasL-Fas pathway in PD.

Parkinson's disease in the GI tract

It is well established that PD patients often have GI tract problems like constipation. These GI tract problems are known to occur decades before the onset of motor dysfunction symptoms (15). Levodopa can cause constipation in the first year of use (100), this could explain constipation in dopamine treated patients but do not explain the GI tract problems years before diagnosis.

Stages of PD

Braak et al. (101) suggested PD to develop in six stages (figure 2). The brain stem is the first to be affected and then the pathology spreads to the substantia nigra and in the final stage the neocortex is affected. The classification of the stages is based on detected lesions, α -synuclein containing lewy bodies or neurites, in the different regions of the brain; in stage 1 the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagal nerve is affected, lesions are detected in the medulla oblongata and pontine tegmentum (part of brain stem) in stage 2, when the progression of PD enters stage 3 or 4 the mesencephalic and prosencephalic nuclei (part of the midbrain) are affected and the patient is clinically diagnosed. In the last stages 5-6 is the cerebral cortex affected.



Figure 2. Braaks theory of the stages in the progression of PD in the brain. The dark red part is stage 1, the area affected first and the very light area is affected in the latest stage 5-6. (101)

Braak et al. (102) indicate that the pathophysiology of PD starts in the gut; that an undetermined pathogen, which could be LPS (103), enters the human body and in some way finds its way through the intestinal mucosal and induces aggregation of α -synuclein in terminal axons of neurons affecting the ENS and via projections the CNS (16). The ENS is directly connected with the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagal nerve and α -synuclein lesions are detected in this nucleus, this indicates that lesions might be present in the ENS before they are detected in the dorsal motor nucleus. In addition, lesions are detected in the ENS as early as stage 2 (16), but it is unknown if the lesions are present earlier (102). This topic is much debated as no well-documented data is yet present. Blandini et al. (18) reported a decrease in fecal output in rats with a substantia nigra lesion, suggesting that damage to neurons in substantia nigra cause alterations in the fecal output, indicating constipation; this was also reported by Colucci et al. (19). The mechanism of the connection between substantia nigra lesion and fecal output is further unknown. Supporting Braaks hypothesis is the fact that the intestinal permeability is increased in PD patients compared with controls. The patients participated in this study were early diagnosed and biopsies were taken before any treatment was started, indicating that the increased permeability is not caused by drug treatment like Levodopa (17). If

aggregated α -synuclein was caused by inflammation then it probably would be detectable in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients as well, suggesting that the aggregated α -synuclein is caused by something else (17) and that might also cause the inflammation of the colon (20). In addition to increased permeability a positive correlation was found between the permeability and α -synuclein indicating that the component causing α -synuclein aggregation might also cause the increased permeability of the intestine barrier (17).

α -synuclein in the GI tract

Lewy bodies and α -synuclein are found in all segments of the gastro intestinal tract, spinal cord, vagus nerve sympathetic ganglion and sciatic nerve in PD patients (24, 25). α -synuclein is detected in untreated PD patients as well indicating that treatment is not causing the α -synuclein in PD patients (104). Annerino et al. (25) found α -synuclein pathology to be most prominent in the stomach, duodenum and proximal jejunum and less prominent in the ileum and colon. They also reported that the most α -synuclein was detected in the myenteric plexus but also in the submucosa plexus (figure 3). According to Annerino et al. (25) is only 3% of the α -synuclein aggregates related with dopaminergic neurons in the GI tract, the rest of the aggregates may be related with cholinergic neurons or α -synuclein may down-regulate the neuron markers but this was not tested and is unknown. Braak et al. (16) also detected α -synuclein in both plexuses of the gut walls through the whole GI tract from the stomach to the end of the colon. α -synuclein was found in the submucosa of the colon in untreated PD patients (104); this was also reported by Lebouvier et al. (105, 106). An important finding is that α -synuclein is detected in all ages whereas phosphorylated α -synuclein increased by age (107). Phosphorylated- α -synuclein was present in the colon of 72% of PD patients while 0% in controls (106). According to Bottner et al. (107) is p- α -synuclein not usable as pathological marker for PD as it seems to be a regular finding in adults but this is inconsistent with the findings of Lebouvier et al. (106). In addition, the patients with lewy neurites had a higher frequency of constipation than the control group and patients without lewy neurites. Finally they found a strong correlation between lewy neurite burden and disease severity (106).

Loss of neurons in the GI tract in PD

Singaram et al. (108) reported a significant decrease in dopamine neurons in the myenteric plexus in PD patients compared with controls but no differences in the submucosal plexus. Lebouvier et al. (105) suggested in consistence with Singaram et al. (108) that no differences were detected in the dopaminergic neurons in the submucosal plexus in the PD patients compared with controls. Contradictory to Singaram et al. (108) and Lebouvier et al. (105) Annerino et al. (25) concluded that there is no loss of myenteric neurons in PD patients. Forsyth et al. (17) suggest that if neuron loss is responsible for dysfunction of GI tract it might be the submucosa plexus neurons. Annerino et al. (25) indicate that it is more likely that the dysfunction of the GI tract is caused by neuropathology in the submucosal plexus and/or in the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus and not caused by damage of the myenteric plexus.

Anderson et al. (109) suggest that MPTP to be a neurotoxin for dopaminergic neurons in the ENS and to cause changes in the motility of the GI tract. This is based on results showing that the density of dopaminergic neurons in the ENS decreased in MPTP treated mice compared with control mice. These MPTP treated mice had increased colon motility, which is contradictory with the findings in PD patients (106); Anderson et al. (109) say it might be because of differences between mice and man. Contradictory, Kuo et al. (110) showed that 2 types of transgenic mice with 2 different mutations in

 α -synuclein A53T and A30P both had ENS abnormalities after 3 months; the motility of the colon was decreased in the A53T type and the whole gut transition time was increased in both types compared with controls. Colucci et al. (19) discovered the expression of the D2 dopamine receptor in the colon to decrease in 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) injected rats compared with controls. More research is needed to determine the role of α -synuclein and which neurons are damaged in the GI tract of PD patients.



Figure 3. Transverse section of the small intestine. The submucosal plexus and the myenteric plexus which contain the ganglia of the ENS. (170)

Inflammation of the gut in PD

Singaram et al. (108) detected inflammatory cells in the myenteric plexus in PD patients and these were absent in controls. Recently Devos et al. (20) detected inflammation in the colon of PD patients. This is the first time inflammation in the GI tract of PD patients is reported. They found increased levels of the glial cell markers glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and Sox-10 and the cytokines TNF- α , IL-6, IFN- γ and slightly increased levels of IL-1 β in colon biopsies from PD patients compared with controls (20). The cytokine profile in the colon of PD patients was similar to the cytokine profile found in Crohn's disease (CD) patients (20). GFAP is an intermediate filament protein in astrocytes and enteric glial cell, Sox-10 is a transcription factor in enteric glia cells (111). A significant correlation between the expression of the enteric glial cell markers and the mRNA of the pro-inflammatory cytokines was found (20). These findings indicate that enteric glial cells and T cells also are involved in the inflammation in the ENS in PD patients.

Enteric glial cells

Enteric glial cells are associated with astrocytes in the CNS (112). Astrocytes are an important contributor in the maintenance of the BBB (113) but indications exist that the BBB is damaged when astrocytes are exposed to misfolded α -synuclein (114). α -synuclein accumulation is detected in astrocytes *in vitro* and in PD animal models and α -synuclein exposed astrocytes show increased gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α (115). In contrast Gu et al. (114) found no up-regulation of the pro-inflammatory cytokines in astrocytes. They found microglia to be activated by α -synuclein exposed astrocytes; furthermore they showed microglia activated by astrocytes to secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α and through this activation of microglia Gu et al. (114) showed astrocytes to contribute to neurodegeneration. Like

astrocytes enteric glial cells possess protective capabilities (116-120). Enteric glial cells secrete GDNF (Bar 1997) which prevent death of epithelial cells (116, 119, 121). In addition *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies showed enteric glial cells to be wound-healing by secretion of pro-epidermal growth factor (proEGF) (120). Also, absence of enteric glial cells *in vivo* increases the permeability of the intestinal epithelial barrier (IEB) (117, 118). These data indicate enteric glia cells to be an important component in the protection of the IEB like astrocytes are important in the maintenance of the BBB. This means that if enteric glia cells or astrocytes are reduced so is the functionality of the IEB or BBB, respectively, and invaders can pass the barrier and cause inflammation. Because of the data discussed above enteric glial cells might be involved in the pathogenesis of PD in the gut. A hypothesis is that inflammation of the gut causes dysfunction of enteric glial cells with increased permeability of the IEB as a result. Another hypothesis is that something causes dysfunction of the gut.

Inflammatory mediators like IFN- γ are shown to increase activation and proliferation of enteric glial cells *in vitro* (122, 123) but not *in vivo* (124). Furthermore, IFN- γ activates enteric glial cells to produce the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 (125) and the free radical NO. Contradictory, enteric glial cells can also inhibit inflammation by secretion of nerve growth factor (NGF) (126). These pro-inflammatory and protecting properties of glial cells indicate that different phenotypes exist of enteric glial cells.

Residential mucosal macrophages are different from other macrophages. They have no expression of cytokines, CD14, CD11b and other surface markers normally expressed by macrophages reviewed in (127). Moreover, residential mucosal macrophages express TLR3-8 and through these receptors they perform phagocytosis of invaders. In case of an invader circulating monocytes are recruited to the inflamed mucosa and these cells generate pro-inflammatory mediators to fight the invader (127). Furthermore it is unknown if residential mucosal macrophages (127). Residential mucosal macrophages and enteric glial cells are different, glial cells express MHC-II and secrete IL-6 when activated by IFN- γ and LPS *in vitro* (123), which indicates their ability to activate T cells, but mucosal macrophages do not secrete cytokines and it is unknown if they express MHC-II. On the other hand, residential mucosal macrophages are phagocytic but to my knowledge, it is unknown if enteric glial cells possess phagocytic activity.

CD is an autoimmune disease, where the GI tract or part of it is inflamed. The inflammation can occur in the whole GI tract from mouth to anus. Previously, Th1 was thought to be the CD4⁺ subset to be chronically activated causing the inflammation, but recently Th17 was demonstrated to be the main subset involved in CD (128, 129). In healthy situations a balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory factors is present, but in diseases like CD and probably PD this balance is disturbed. The function of Th17 is in balance with the function of Tregs, when Th17 is chronically activated, like in CD, Tregs are not able to reduce the inflammatory response. The number of Tregs decreases in the peripheral blood as the Tregs migrate to the inflamed region. The Treg in the inflamed mucosa of CD patients enter apoptosis and the number of Tregs stays decreased (130). Reports showed the number of Tregs to increase when CD patients were treated with Infliximab, an anti-TNF- α antibody, and the disease severity was reduced with Infliximab treatment (130, 131). As TNF- α also plays a role in the pathophysiology of PD and was detected in the inflamed colon of PD patients (20), Infliximab might be a possible treatment in PD. The question is if Infliximab can cross the BBB. If the GI tract problems in PD patients are caused by inflammation, anti-TNF- α treatment might be a solution.

Different phenotypes of macrophages are also detected in the intestine. The mucosal macrophage phenotype found in the colon of IBD patients expressed higher levels of CD14, CD16, HLA-DR, CD11b and CD11c compared to healthy colons (132, 133). This is further confirmed by Smythies et al. (134); they showed resident macrophages not to be pro-inflammatory. This is probably because macrophages in the intestine in CD are recruited from the blood and classically activated (127). Moreover, reports indicate that the phenotype of macrophages can change and by inducing alternative activated macrophages inflammation in IBD patients might be reduced (135-137). Little is known about the role of enteric glial cells in CD, but studies indicate that dysfunction of enteric glial cells has a role in inflammation of the gut (138, 139).

So far very little is known about GI tract inflammation in PD patients, but that inflammation not only occurs in the CNS but in the GI tract as well is a very important finding for future research to discover the pathology of PD and how the interaction between the ENS and CNS takes place. Still a lot of work needs to be done to find out the role of enteric glial cells in PD and which neurons are affected in which parts of the ENS, but it is definitely an important part of the investigation of PD.

Current and future treatment

Currently no therapy is available to inhibit the progression of PD. The current treatment is only relief of symptoms. The used drugs are increasing the level of dopamine in the CNS. These drugs do that in different ways;

- Levodopa is transformed into dopamine
- Dopamine agonist bind directly on the postsynaptic dopamine receptors
- Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) and monoamine oxidase (MAO) B inhibitors decrease the breakdown of dopamine.
- Anticholinergic drugs block the effect of acetylcholine but these are rarely used because of the side effects.
- Amantadine is an N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) antagonist and stimulate dopamine indirectly

An additionally therapy is deep brain stimulation but this is only used when the progression of PD is at a stage when little or no response to dopamine is present anymore and this surgery only affect the levodopa responsive symptoms. The patient can use complementary therapy like herbs and vitamins in combination with levodopa but this is not approved by the FDA as a treatment. (100, 140)

PD is an inflammatory disease which suggests that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID's) can be used as treatment of PD (141, 142). No studies in PD patients with NSAID's but in vitro and in vivo studies showed NSAID's to be neuroprotective in PD (143-145). Traditional NSAID's have side effects as both COX1 and COX2 are inhibited and moreover a higher dose is necessary as the drugs have to cross the BBB. Inhibition of COX1 is paired with cardio protective effects and these protective effects are absent in COX2 specific inhibitors. A prevention study in Alzheimer's disease patients was discontinued because specific COX2 inhibitor caused increased risk of cardiovascular events in the patients (146). Vioxx, a COX2 inhibitor was taken off the market because it showed increased incidence of myocardial infarction in rheumatoid arthritis patients (147). Minocycline is a lipophilic third generation tetracycline analog (antibiotic) which easily cross the BBB. Minocycline inhibits activation and proliferation of microglia, secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Minocycline is able to reduce PD in animal models (148, 149), but in clinical trials minocycline seems to have no effect although the sample size was small (150). Minocycline was also tested in ALS patients in a larger group, but showed a negative effect as the disease accelerated compared with placebo treated patients; this makes minocycline a non-beneficial drug. The reason for the negative effect of minocycline on ALS is unknown but possible because the used animal model is a poor representative of the disease or the approach to translational neuroscience is inadequate (151). Because of these results use of minocycline in other neurodegenerative diseases need to be reconsidered.

Glucocorticoids (GC) are known to induce alternative activated macrophages which produce IL-10 and perform high phagocytic activity (45, 47). The glucocorticoid receptor (GR) is dysfunctional in PD, the expression of the receptor in the substantia nigra is decreased and the level of cortisol is highly increased in PD patients, but Ros-Bernal et al. (152) showed the GR on microglia to be important in the survival of neurons. This is consistent with the fact that GC induce alternative activated microglia, indicating that using GC as treatment in PD might be beneficial although only tested in the MPTP

animal model. In the MPTP mouse model dexamethasone treatment showed protection of dopamine damage (153).

Neuraltus Pharmaceuticals performed clinical trials to determine the effects of the small molecule NP001 on PD, AD and ALS patients. NP001 is a drug skewing the phenotype of activated macrophages to the alternative activated phenotype. In October 2012 Neuraltus announced the results of the phase 2 trial in ALS and is starting phase 3 trials (154).

Other experimental treatments investigated at the moment are stem cell therapy and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP). Mesenchymal stem cells were applied intravenously and induced neuroprotection in α -synuclein transgenic mice (155). Mesenchymal stem cells can differentiate into neuron- and glia-like cells, and as a result a reduced secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines linked to microglia activation reduced the damage of dopaminergic neurons.

VIP is a neuropeptide and is known to be immune regulatory and induce Tregs in Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and arthritis (156, 157). According to Reynolds et al. (86) this is also the case in PD. They showed VIP to reduce the neuroinflammation and induce the survival of neurons in MPTP treated animals. VIP inhibited the expression of Th17 cytokines like IL-6 and IL-17 and induced the expression of Treg markers like Foxp3 and IL-10 and in addition VIP induced the suppressive capacity of Tregs (86). The anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4 induces the neuron survival and reduces the nitrate/nitrite and superoxide levels *in vitro* (93). VIP induces differentiation of Th2 cells and is secreted by Th2 cells as well (158). VIP injected into the substantia nigra of MPTP treated mice decreased activation of microglia, production of TNF- α , IL-1 β and ROI and increased survival of neurons (159). When VIP is injected i.p. in PD animal model, the survival of neurons increased as well (160). In AD mouse model VIP inhibits microglia activation by blocking three inflammatory pathways p38 MAPK, p42p44 MAPK and NFkB (161). Subjects suffering from constipation have a reduced number of VIP positive neurons and increased NO positive neurons (162). This indicates that VIP treatment might reduce neuroinflammation by inducing Tregs, which induce alternative activated microglia by secreting IL-10 and additionally VIP treatment might reduce constipation in PD patients.

Discussion

The ideal treatment would be curing PD, but as the causer of the disease is not known, this is impossible. To help PD patients it is not satisfactorily to treat the symptoms as is done today. To slow down the progression of this neurodegenerative disease it is important to stop or reduce the neuroinflammation but the accumulation of α -synuclein has to be stopped as well. If the accumulation of α -synuclein is not stopped, the microglia will still be chronically stimulated by α synuclein. If only the accumulation is stopped I doubt that the microglia are able to change phenotype without any anti-inflammatory stimulation. The microglia are already activated by α synuclein and even though no α -synuclein is present to constantly activate new microglia, previously activated microglia and T cells are present and continue the inflammation as a positive feedback mechanism resulting in activation of each other by secretion of cytokines. Microglia induce proliferation and function of Th1 cells and activate T cells by secretion of IFN-y and T cells secrete IL-1, IL-6, IL17 and IFN-γ which in turn activate microglia. The balance of the T cell subsets is proinflammatory skewed thus adjusting this dysbalance by modulating the microglia-T cell interaction could be a possible way to reduce the inflammation and to equilibrate the balance of T cell subsets. I think the chance is higher to reduce the progression of PD, when both accumulation of α -synuclein and inflammation are stopped. To stop the inflammation, the phenotype of microglia needs to be changed from the pro-inflammatory to the anti-inflammatory phenotype. This can be realized by administration of IL-4 which induces alternative activated microglia which are anti-inflammatory and more phagocytic and suppress Th1 functions. Alternative activated microglia and thus phagocytic activity can also be induced by IL-10 secreted by Tregs. Induction of Tregs can be done by adoptive transfer of Tregs but also by administration of VIP. The balance of the T cell subsets is also skewed towards equilibrium being less pro-inflammatory when Tregs are induced. Moreover, VIP might reduce the decreased GI tract motility in PD patients. Finally, VIP induces secretion of IL-4 by Th2 cells, indicating that treatment of PD by administration of VIP induces alternative activation of microglia directly but also through induction of Tregs, this is a promising treatment with beneficial outcomes.

Inflammation of the colon has newly been detected in PD patients and several reports indicate that the ENS is affected and the permeability of the IEB is changed, therefore medical foods might be beneficial in the treatment of PD. Several reports document compounds used as medical foods to modulate the immune system; prebiotics like oligosaccharides induce Tregs but also Th1 (163), the probiotic lactobacillus is also shown to skew the immune response towards a Treg and/or Th1 response (164). Different probiotics exist with different effects, a systemic review show no evidence that use of probiotic is beneficial in CD (165), as the cytokine profile of the colon inflammation in PD is similar to the inflammation in PD probiotics might not be beneficial in PD. Contrary, glutamine and whey protein are showed to improve the intestinal permeability in CD patients (166). Also polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) like omega-3 and 6 fatty acids are shown to suppress Th17 cells in the mucosal immune system (167), furthermore an in vitro study showed an omega-6 fatty acid derivative to possess neuroprotective properties in the ENS (168). Considering the effects of PUFAs these might be beneficial in PD patients. Souvenaid is a medical nutrition product launched recently, as supplement for patients with mild AD. The nutrient combination contains phospholipids among others and is designed to improve memory and to support the formation of synapses (169). Fatty acids are derivatives of phospholipids so maybe Souvenaid also has an effect in PD patients.

In conclusion, by administration of VIP, GI tract motility increases, the number and function of Tregs induces as well as the IL4 secretion by Th2 cells, resulting in induction of alternative activated microglia and inhibiting the damaging effects of the classical activated microglia. Additionally use of medical food like PUFAs decreases the permeability of the IEB and might modulate the skewed balance of Th17/Treg towards Tregs. More research is necessary to reveal the role of Tregs in PD both in the CNS and in the ENS, but I am confident that induction of Tregs will reduce the neuroinflammation in PD patients.

Abbreviations

AD	. Alzheimer's disease
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
APC	. Antigen presenting cell
BBB	. Brain-blood barrier
BDNF	.Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
CD	Crohn's Disease
CLN	Cervical lymph node
CNS	. Central nervous system
COMT	Catechol-O-methyltransferase
сох	. Cyclooxygenase
EAE	.Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
ENS	.Enteric nervous system
Foxp3	. Forkhead box protein 3
GC	Glucocorticoid
GDNF	. Glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GI tract	. Gastro-intestinal tract
GM-CSF	. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
ICAM-1	. Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IEB	. Intestinal epithelial barrier
IFN-γ	Interferon-γ
IL	.Interleukin
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRRK2	Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2
МАО-В	Monoamine oxidase B

- MHC-II..... Major histocompatibility complex-II
- MPTP......1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
- NGF..... Nerve growth factor
- NK.....Natural killer cells
- NMDA.....N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor
- NSAIDs.....Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
- 6-OHDA...... 6-hydroxydopamine
- NO..... Nitric oxide
- PD.....Parkinson's disease
- PET..... Positron emission tomography
- proEGF.....Pro-epidermal growth factor
- PUFA.....Poly-unsaturated fatty acids
- RNI..... Reactive nitric intermediates
- ROI..... Reactive oxygen intermediates
- ROR-yt..... Retinoic acid-related orphan receptor-yt
- SCID.....Severe Combined Immune Deficiency syndrome
- TGF- β Transforming growth factor β
- Th..... T helper cell
- TLR..... Toll-like receptor
- TNF- αTumor necrosis factor α
- Treg.....Regulatory T cell
- VIP.....Vasoactive intestinal peptide

References

1. Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M, et al. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. Lancet. 2005;366(9503):2112-7. Epub 2005/12/20.

2. Andlin-Sobocki P, Jonsson B, Wittchen HU, Olesen J. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe. European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies. 2005;12 Suppl 1:1-27. Epub 2005/05/10.

3. Dorsey ER, Constantinescu R, Thompson JP, Biglan KM, Holloway RG, Kieburtz K, et al. Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most populous nations, 2005 through 2030. Neurology. 2007;68(5):384-6. Epub 2006/11/04.

4. de Lau LM, Breteler MM. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet neurology. 2006;5(6):525-35. Epub 2006/05/23.

5. Qian L, Flood PM, Hong JS. Neuroinflammation is a key player in Parkinson's disease and a prime target for therapy. Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996). 2010;117(8):971-9. Epub 2010/06/24.

6. Dauer W, Przedborski S. Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. Neuron. 2003;39(6):889-909. Epub 2003/09/16.

7. Clark MA, Finkel R, Rey JA, Whalen K. Pharmacology. Harvey RA, editor. Philadelphia, USA: Wolter Kluwer, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.

8. Lotharius J, Brundin P. Pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease: dopamine, vesicles and alphasynuclein. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2002;3(12):932-42. Epub 2002/12/04.

9. Hirsch EC, Hunot S. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: a target for neuroprotection? Lancet neurology. 2009;8(4):382-97. Epub 2009/03/20.

10. Zhou L, Chong MM, Littman DR. Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. Immunity. 2009;30(5):646-55. Epub 2009/05/26.

11. Sakaguchi S, Miyara M, Costantino CM, Hafler DA. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the human immune system. Nature reviews Immunology. 2010;10(7):490-500. Epub 2010/06/19.

12. Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. The Journal of experimental medicine. 2004;199(7):971-9. Epub 2004/04/07.

13. Korzenik JR, Podolsky DK. Evolving knowledge and therapy of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2006;5(3):197-209. Epub 2006/03/07.

14. Ehrenstein MR, Evans JG, Singh A, Moore S, Warnes G, Isenberg DA, et al. Compromised function of regulatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis and reversal by anti-TNFalpha therapy. The Journal of experimental medicine. 2004;200(3):277-85. Epub 2004/07/29.

15. Abbott RD, Petrovitch H, White LR, Masaki KH, Tanner CM, Curb JD, et al. Frequency of bowel movements and the future risk of Parkinson's disease. Neurology. 2001;57(3):456-62. Epub 2001/08/15.

16. Braak H, de Vos RA, Bohl J, Del Tredici K. Gastric alpha-synuclein immunoreactive inclusions in Meissner's and Auerbach's plexuses in cases staged for Parkinson's disease-related brain pathology. Neuroscience letters. 2006;396(1):67-72. Epub 2005/12/07.

17. Forsyth CB, Shannon KM, Kordower JH, Voigt RM, Shaikh M, Jaglin JA, et al. Increased intestinal permeability correlates with sigmoid mucosa alpha-synuclein staining and endotoxin exposure markers in early Parkinson's disease. PloS one. 2011;6(12):e28032. Epub 2011/12/07.

18. Blandini F, Balestra B, Levandis G, Cervio M, Greco R, Tassorelli C, et al. Functional and neurochemical changes of the gastrointestinal tract in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience letters. 2009;467(3):203-7. Epub 2009/10/20.

19. Colucci M, Cervio M, Faniglione M, De Angelis S, Pajoro M, Levandis G, et al. Intestinal dysmotility and enteric neurochemical changes in a Parkinson's disease rat model. Autonomic neuroscience : basic & clinical. 2012;169(2):77-86. Epub 2012/05/23.

20. Devos D, Lebouvier T, Lardeux B, Biraud M, Rouaud T, Pouclet H, et al. Colonic inflammation in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiology of disease. 2013;50:42-8. Epub 2012/09/29.

21. Spillantini MG, Schmidt ML, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Jakes R, Goedert M. Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. Nature. 1997;388(6645):839-40. Epub 1997/08/28.

22. Forno LS. Neuropathology of Parkinson's disease. Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology. 1996;55(3):259-72. Epub 1996/03/01.

23. Croisier E, Moran LB, Dexter DT, Pearce RK, Graeber MB. Microglial inflammation in the parkinsonian substantia nigra: relationship to alpha-synuclein deposition. Journal of neuroinflammation. 2005;2:14. Epub 2005/06/07.

24. Beach TG, Adler CH, Sue LI, Vedders L, Lue L, White lii CL, et al. Multi-organ distribution of phosphorylated alpha-synuclein histopathology in subjects with Lewy body disorders. Acta neuropathologica. 2010;119(6):689-702. Epub 2010/03/23.

25. Annerino DM, Arshad S, Taylor GM, Adler CH, Beach TG, Greene JG. Parkinson's disease is not associated with gastrointestinal myenteric ganglion neuron loss. Acta neuropathologica. 2012;124(5):665-80. Epub 2012/09/04.

26. Zhang W, Wang T, Pei Z, Miller DS, Wu X, Block ML, et al. Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2005;19(6):533-42. Epub 2005/03/26.

27. Periquet M, Fulga T, Myllykangas L, Schlossmacher MG, Feany MB. Aggregated alphasynuclein mediates dopaminergic neurotoxicity in vivo. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2007;27(12):3338-46. Epub 2007/03/23.

28. Beraud D, Hathaway HA, Trecki J, Chasovskikh S, Johnson DA, Johnson JA, et al. Microglial Activation and Antioxidant Responses Induced by the Parkinson's Disease Protein alpha-Synuclein. Journal of neuroimmune pharmacology : the official journal of the Society on NeuroImmune Pharmacology. 2012. Epub 2012/10/12.

29. Vekrellis K, Xilouri M, Emmanouilidou E, Rideout HJ, Stefanis L. Pathological roles of alphasynuclein in neurological disorders. Lancet neurology. 2011;10(11):1015-25. Epub 2011/10/22.

30. Polymeropoulos MH, Lavedan C, Leroy E, Ide SE, Dehejia A, Dutra A, et al. Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. Science (New York, NY). 1997;276(5321):2045-7. Epub 1997/06/27.

31. Conway KA, Lee SJ, Rochet JC, Ding TT, Williamson RE, Lansbury PT, Jr. Acceleration of oligomerization, not fibrillization, is a shared property of both alpha-synuclein mutations linked to early-onset Parkinson's disease: implications for pathogenesis and therapy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2000;97(2):571-6. Epub 2000/01/19.

32. Marques O, Outeiro TF. Alpha-synuclein: from secretion to dysfunction and death. Cell death & disease. 2012;3:e350. Epub 2012/07/25.

33. Winner B, Jappelli R, Maji SK, Desplats PA, Boyer L, Aigner S, et al. In vivo demonstration that alpha-synuclein oligomers are toxic. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011;108(10):4194-9. Epub 2011/02/18.

34. Beraud D, Twomey M, Bloom B, Mittereder A, Ton V, Neitzke K, et al. alpha-Synuclein Alters Toll-Like Receptor Expression. Frontiers in neuroscience. 2011;5:80. Epub 2011/07/13.

35. Fellner L, Stefanova N. The Role of Glia in Alpha-Synucleinopathies. Molecular neurobiology. 2012. Epub 2012/09/04.

36. Su X, Maguire-Zeiss KA, Giuliano R, Prifti L, Venkatesh K, Federoff HJ. Synuclein activates microglia in a model of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiology of aging. 2008;29(11):1690-701. Epub 2007/06/01.

37. Lee EJ, Woo MS, Moon PG, Baek MC, Choi IY, Kim WK, et al. Alpha-synuclein activates microglia by inducing the expressions of matrix metalloproteinases and the subsequent activation of protease-activated receptor-1. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2010;185(1):615-23. Epub 2010/06/01.

38. Theodore S, Cao S, McLean PJ, Standaert DG. Targeted overexpression of human alphasynuclein triggers microglial activation and an adaptive immune response in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology. 2008;67(12):1149-58. Epub 2008/11/20.

39. Alvarez-Erviti L, Couch Y, Richardson J, Cooper JM, Wood MJ. Alpha-synuclein release by neurons activates the inflammatory response in a microglial cell line. Neuroscience research. 2011;69(4):337-42. Epub 2011/01/25.

40. Klegeris A, Pelech S, Giasson BI, Maguire J, Zhang H, McGeer EG, et al. Alpha-synuclein activates stress signaling protein kinases in THP-1 cells and microglia. Neurobiology of aging. 2008;29(5):739-52. Epub 2006/12/15.

41. Roodveldt C, Labrador-Garrido A, Gonzalez-Rey E, Fernandez-Montesinos R, Caro M, Lachaud CC, et al. Glial innate immunity generated by non-aggregated alpha-synuclein in mouse: differences between wild-type and Parkinson's disease-linked mutants. PloS one. 2010;5(10):e13481. Epub 2010/11/05.

42. Benner EJ, Banerjee R, Reynolds AD, Sherman S, Pisarev VM, Tsiperson V, et al. Nitrated alpha-synuclein immunity accelerates degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons. PloS one. 2008;3(1):e1376. Epub 2008/01/03.

43. Ouchi Y, Yoshikawa E, Sekine Y, Futatsubashi M, Kanno T, Ogusu T, et al. Microglial activation and dopamine terminal loss in early Parkinson's disease. Annals of neurology. 2005;57(2):168-75. Epub 2005/01/26.

44. Gerhard A, Pavese N, Hotton G, Turkheimer F, Es M, Hammers A, et al. In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiology of disease. 2006;21(2):404-12. Epub 2005/09/27.

45. Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nature reviews Immunology. 2008;8(12):958-69. Epub 2008/11/26.

46. Perry VH, Nicoll JA, Holmes C. Microglia in neurodegenerative disease. Nature reviews Neurology. 2010;6(4):193-201. Epub 2010/03/18.

47. Benoit M, Desnues B, Mege JL. Macrophage polarization in bacterial infections. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2008;181(6):3733-9. Epub 2008/09/05.

48. Sanchez-Guajardo V, Febbraro F, Kirik D, Romero-Ramos M. Microglia acquire distinct activation profiles depending on the degree of alpha-synuclein neuropathology in a rAAV based model of Parkinson's disease. PloS one. 2010;5(1):e8784. Epub 2010/01/26.

49. Li L, Lu J, Tay SS, Moochhala SM, He BP. The function of microglia, either neuroprotection or neurotoxicity, is determined by the equilibrium among factors released from activated microglia in vitro. Brain research. 2007;1159:8-17. Epub 2007/06/19.

50. Depboylu C, Stricker S, Ghobril JP, Oertel WH, Priller J, Hoglinger GU. Brain-resident microglia predominate over infiltrating myeloid cells in activation, phagocytosis and interaction with T-lymphocytes in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson disease. Experimental neurology. 2012;238(2):183-91. Epub 2012/09/12.

51. Michelucci A, Heurtaux T, Grandbarbe L, Morga E, Heuschling P. Characterization of the microglial phenotype under specific pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory conditions: Effects of oligomeric and fibrillar amyloid-beta. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2009;210(1-2):3-12. Epub 2009/03/10.

52. Durafourt BA, Moore CS, Zammit DA, Johnson TA, Zaguia F, Guiot MC, et al. Comparison of polarization properties of human adult microglia and blood-derived macrophages. Glia. 2012;60(5):717-27. Epub 2012/02/01.

53. Cameron B, Tse W, Lamb R, Li X, Lamb BT, Landreth GE. Loss of interleukin receptorassociated kinase 4 signaling suppresses amyloid pathology and alters microglial phenotype in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2012;32(43):15112-23. Epub 2012/10/27.

54. Murphy K, Travers P, Walport M. Janeway's Immunobiology. 7th edition ed. New York, London: Garland Science; 2008.

55. Park JY, Paik SR, Jou I, Park SM. Microglial phagocytosis is enhanced by monomeric alphasynuclein, not aggregated alpha-synuclein: implications for Parkinson's disease. Glia. 2008;56(11):1215-23. Epub 2008/05/02.

56. Hanisch UK, Kettenmann H. Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. Nature neuroscience. 2007;10(11):1387-94. Epub 2007/10/30.

57. O'Keefe GM, Nguyen VT, Benveniste EN. Regulation and function of class II major histocompatibility complex, CD40, and B7 expression in macrophages and microglia: Implications in neurological diseases. Journal of neurovirology. 2002;8(6):496-512. Epub 2002/12/12.

58. Saijo K, Glass CK. Microglial cell origin and phenotypes in health and disease. Nature reviews Immunology. 2011;11(11):775-87. Epub 2011/10/26.

59. Kurkowska-Jastrzebska I, Wronska A, Kohutnicka M, Czlonkowski A, Czlonkowska A. MHC class II positive microglia and lymphocytic infiltration are present in the substantia nigra and striatum in mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Acta neurobiologiae experimentalis. 1999;59(1):1-8. Epub 1999/05/07.

60. McGeer PL, Itagaki S, McGeer EG. Expression of the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR in neurological disease. Acta neuropathologica. 1988;76(6):550-7. Epub 1988/01/01.

61. Imamura K, Hishikawa N, Sawada M, Nagatsu T, Yoshida M, Hashizume Y. Distribution of major histocompatibility complex class II-positive microglia and cytokine profile of Parkinson's disease brains. Acta neuropathologica. 2003;106(6):518-26. Epub 2003/09/27.

62. Saijo K, Winner B, Carson CT, Collier JG, Boyer L, Rosenfeld MG, et al. A Nurr1/CoREST pathway in microglia and astrocytes protects dopaminergic neurons from inflammation-induced death. Cell. 2009;137(1):47-59. Epub 2009/04/07.

63. Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne AM, Godbout JP. Peripheral lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge promotes microglial hyperactivity in aged mice that is associated with exaggerated induction of both pro-inflammatory IL-1beta and anti-inflammatory IL-10 cytokines. Brain, behavior, and immunity. 2009;23(3):309-17. Epub 2008/09/26.

64. Suzuki Y, Claflin J, Wang X, Lengi A, Kikuchi T. Microglia and macrophages as innate producers of interferon-gamma in the brain following infection with Toxoplasma gondii. International journal for parasitology. 2005;35(1):83-90. Epub 2004/12/28.

65. Hunot S, Dugas N, Faucheux B, Hartmann A, Tardieu M, Debre P, et al. FcepsilonRII/CD23 is expressed in Parkinson's disease and induces, in vitro, production of nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in glial cells. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 1999;19(9):3440-7. Epub 1999/04/23.

66. Teismann P, Tieu K, Choi DK, Wu DC, Naini A, Hunot S, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 is instrumental in Parkinson's disease neurodegeneration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2003;100(9):5473-8. Epub 2003/04/19.

67. Vane JR, Bakhle YS, Botting RM. Cyclooxygenases 1 and 2. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 1998;38:97-120. Epub 1998/05/23.

68. Chao CC, Hu S, Molitor TW, Shaskan EG, Peterson PK. Activated microglia mediate neuronal cell injury via a nitric oxide mechanism. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1992;149(8):2736-41. Epub 1992/10/15.

69. Arimoto T, Bing G. Up-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase in the substantia nigra by lipopolysaccharide causes microglial activation and neurodegeneration. Neurobiology of disease. 2003;12(1):35-45. Epub 2003/03/01.

70. Iravani MM, Kashefi K, Mander P, Rose S, Jenner P. Involvement of inducible nitric oxide synthase in inflammation-induced dopaminergic neurodegeneration. Neuroscience. 2002;110(1):49-58. Epub 2002/03/08.

71. Hunot S, Boissiere F, Faucheux B, Brugg B, Mouatt-Prigent A, Agid Y, et al. Nitric oxide synthase and neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience. 1996;72(2):355-63. Epub 1996/05/01.

72. Gao HM, Kotzbauer PT, Uryu K, Leight S, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. Neuroinflammation and oxidation/nitration of alpha-synuclein linked to dopaminergic neurodegeneration. The Journal of

neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2008;28(30):7687-98. Epub 2008/07/25.

73. Brochard V, Combadiere B, Prigent A, Laouar Y, Perrin A, Beray-Berthat V, et al. Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2009;119(1):182-92. Epub 2008/12/24.

74. Mogi M, Harada M, Riederer P, Narabayashi H, Fujita K, Nagatsu T. Tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF-alpha) increases both in the brain and in the cerebrospinal fluid from parkinsonian patients. Neuroscience letters. 1994;165(1-2):208-10. Epub 1994/01/03.

75. Mogi M, Harada M, Kondo T, Riederer P, Inagaki H, Minami M, et al. Interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-6, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-alpha are elevated in the brain from parkinsonian patients. Neuroscience letters. 1994;180(2):147-50. Epub 1994/10/24.

76. Mogi M, Harada M, Kondo T, Narabayashi H, Riederer P, Nagatsu T. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 levels are elevated in the striatum and in ventricular cerebrospinal fluid in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience letters. 1995;193(2):129-32. Epub 1995/06/30.

77. Kurkowska-Jastrzebska I, Wronska A, Kohutnicka M, Czlonkowski A, Czlonkowska A. The inflammatory reaction following 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3, 6-tetrahydropyridine intoxication in mouse. Experimental neurology. 1999;156(1):50-61. Epub 1999/04/08.

78. Beers DR, Henkel JS, Zhao W, Wang J, Appel SH. CD4+ T cells support glial neuroprotection, slow disease progression, and modify glial morphology in an animal model of inherited ALS. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008;105(40):15558-63. Epub 2008/09/24.

79. Beers DR, Henkel JS, Zhao W, Wang J, Huang A, Wen S, et al. Endogenous regulatory T lymphocytes ameliorate amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice and correlate with disease progression in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2011;134(Pt 5):1293-314. Epub 2011/05/21.

Giuliani F, Goodyer CG, Antel JP, Yong VW. Vulnerability of human neurons to T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2003;171(1):368-79. Epub 2003/06/21.
 Boka G, Anglade P, Wallach D, Javoy-Agid F, Agid Y, Hirsch EC. Immunocytochemical analysis of tumor necrosis factor and its receptors in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience letters. 1994;172(1-

2):151-4. Epub 1994/05/19.

82. Mount MP, Lira A, Grimes D, Smith PD, Faucher S, Slack R, et al. Involvement of interferongamma in microglial-mediated loss of dopaminergic neurons. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2007;27(12):3328-37. Epub 2007/03/23.

83. Saresella M, Calabrese E, Marventano I, Piancone F, Gatti A, Alberoni M, et al. Increased activity of Th-17 and Th-9 lymphocytes and a skewing of the post-thymic differentiation pathway are seen in Alzheimer's disease. Brain, behavior, and immunity. 2011;25(3):539-47. Epub 2010/12/21.
84. Kim CF, Moalem-Taylor G. Interleukin-17 contributes to neuroinflammation and neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury in mice. The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society. 2011;12(3):370-83. Epub 2010/10/05.

85. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Bernard M, et al. Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nature medicine. 2007;13(10):1173-5. Epub 2007/09/11.

86. Reynolds AD, Stone DK, Hutter JA, Benner EJ, Mosley RL, Gendelman HE. Regulatory T cells attenuate Th17 cell-mediated nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurodegeneration in a model of Parkinson's disease. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2010;184(5):2261-71. Epub 2010/02/02.

87. Chi Y, Fan Y, He L, Liu W, Wen X, Zhou S, et al. Novel role of aquaporin-4 in CD4+ CD25+ T regulatory cell development and severity of Parkinson's disease. Aging cell. 2011;10(3):368-82. Epub 2011/01/25.

88. McQuillan K, Lynch MA, Mills KH. Activation of mixed glia by Abeta-specific Th1 and Th17 cells and its regulation by Th2 cells. Brain, behavior, and immunity. 2010;24(4):598-607. Epub 2010/01/12.

89. Baba Y, Kuroiwa A, Uitti RJ, Wszolek ZK, Yamada T. Alterations of T-lymphocyte populations in Parkinson disease. Parkinsonism & related disorders. 2005;11(8):493-8. Epub 2005/09/13.

90. Verreck FA, de Boer T, Langenberg DM, Hoeve MA, Kramer M, Vaisberg E, et al. Human IL-23producing type 1 macrophages promote but IL-10-producing type 2 macrophages subvert immunity to (myco)bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2004;101(13):4560-5. Epub 2004/04/09.

91. Reynolds AD, Banerjee R, Liu J, Gendelman HE, Mosley RL. Neuroprotective activities of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. Journal of leukocyte biology. 2007;82(5):1083-94. Epub 2007/08/07.

92. Reynolds AD, Stone DK, Mosley RL, Gendelman HE. Nitrated {alpha}-synuclein-induced alterations in microglial immunity are regulated by CD4+ T cell subsets. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2009;182(7):4137-49. Epub 2009/03/21.

93. Zhao W, Xie W, Xiao Q, Beers DR, Appel SH. Protective effects of an anti-inflammatory cytokine, interleukin-4, on motoneuron toxicity induced by activated microglia. Journal of neurochemistry. 2006;99(4):1176-87. Epub 2006/10/05.

94. Saunders JA, Estes KA, Kosloski LM, Allen HE, Dempsey KM, Torres-Russotto DR, et al. CD4+ Regulatory and Effector/Memory T Cell Subsets Profile Motor Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. Journal of neuroimmune pharmacology : the official journal of the Society on NeuroImmune Pharmacology. 2012;7(4):927-38. Epub 2012/10/12.

95. Mantovani S, Garbelli S, Pasini A, Alimonti D, Perotti C, Melazzini M, et al. Immune system alterations in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients suggest an ongoing neuroinflammatory process. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2009;210(1-2):73-9. Epub 2009/03/25.

96. Rentzos M, Evangelopoulos E, Sereti E, Zouvelou V, Marmara S, Alexakis T, et al. Alterations of T cell subsets in ALS: a systemic immune activation? Acta neurologica Scandinavica. 2012;125(4):260-4. Epub 2011/06/10.

97. Rosenkranz D, Weyer S, Tolosa E, Gaenslen A, Berg D, Leyhe T, et al. Higher frequency of regulatory T cells in the elderly and increased suppressive activity in neurodegeneration. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2007;188(1-2):117-27. Epub 2007/06/22.

98. Reynolds AD, Stone DK, Mosley RL, Gendelman HE. Proteomic studies of nitrated alphasynuclein microglia regulation by CD4+CD25+ T cells. Journal of proteome research. 2009;8(7):3497-511. Epub 2009/05/13.

99. Hayley S, Crocker SJ, Smith PD, Shree T, Jackson-Lewis V, Przedborski S, et al. Regulation of dopaminergic loss by Fas in a 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine model of Parkinson's disease. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2004;24(8):2045-53. Epub 2004/02/27.

100. Muller B, Assmus J, Larsen JP, Haugarvoll K, Skeie GO, Tysnes OB. Autonomic symptoms and dopaminergic treatment in de novo Parkinson's disease. Acta neurologica Scandinavica. 2012. Epub 2012/09/25.

101. Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rub U, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Braak E. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiology of aging. 2003;24(2):197-211. Epub 2002/12/25.

102. Braak H, Del Tredici K. Invited Article: Nervous system pathology in sporadic Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2008;70(20):1916-25. Epub 2008/05/14.

103. Niehaus I, Lange JH. Endotoxin: is it an environmental factor in the cause of Parkinson's disease? Occupational and environmental medicine. 2003;60(5):378. Epub 2003/04/24.

104. Shannon KM, Keshavarzian A, Mutlu E, Dodiya HB, Daian D, Jaglin JA, et al. Alpha-synuclein in colonic submucosa in early untreated Parkinson's disease. Movement disorders : official journal of the Movement Disorder Society. 2012;27(6):709-15. Epub 2011/07/19.

105. Lebouvier T, Chaumette T, Damier P, Coron E, Touchefeu Y, Vrignaud S, et al. Pathological lesions in colonic biopsies during Parkinson's disease. Gut. 2008;57(12):1741-3. Epub 2008/11/22.

106. Lebouvier T, Neunlist M, Bruley des Varannes S, Coron E, Drouard A, N'Guyen JM, et al. Colonic biopsies to assess the neuropathology of Parkinson's disease and its relationship with symptoms. PloS one. 2010;5(9):e12728. Epub 2010/09/22.

107. Bottner M, Zorenkov D, Hellwig I, Barrenschee M, Harde J, Fricke T, et al. Expression pattern and localization of alpha-synuclein in the human enteric nervous system. Neurobiology of disease. 2012;48(3):474-80. Epub 2012/08/02.

108. Singaram C, Ashraf W, Gaumnitz EA, Torbey C, Sengupta A, Pfeiffer R, et al. Dopaminergic defect of enteric nervous system in Parkinson's disease patients with chronic constipation. Lancet. 1995;346(8979):861-4. Epub 1995/09/30.

109. Anderson G, Noorian AR, Taylor G, Anitha M, Bernhard D, Srinivasan S, et al. Loss of enteric dopaminergic neurons and associated changes in colon motility in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Experimental neurology. 2007;207(1):4-12. Epub 2007/06/26.

110. Kuo YM, Li Z, Jiao Y, Gaborit N, Pani AK, Orrison BM, et al. Extensive enteric nervous system abnormalities in mice transgenic for artificial chromosomes containing Parkinson disease-associated alpha-synuclein gene mutations precede central nervous system changes. Human molecular genetics. 2010;19(9):1633-50. Epub 2010/01/29.

111. Laranjeira C, Sandgren K, Kessaris N, Richardson W, Potocnik A, Vanden Berghe P, et al. Glial cells in the mouse enteric nervous system can undergo neurogenesis in response to injury. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2011;121(9):3412-24. Epub 2011/08/26.

112. Neunlist M, Van Landeghem L, Mahe MM, Derkinderen P, des Varannes SB, Rolli-Derkinderen M. The digestive neuronal-glial-epithelial unit: a new actor in gut health and disease. Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology. 2012. Epub 2012/11/21.

113. Abbott NJ, Ronnback L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2006;7(1):41-53. Epub 2005/12/24.

114. Gu XL, Long CX, Sun L, Xie C, Lin X, Cai H. Astrocytic expression of Parkinson's disease-related A53T alpha-synuclein causes neurodegeneration in mice. Molecular brain. 2010;3:12. Epub 2010/04/23.

115. Lee HJ, Suk JE, Patrick C, Bae EJ, Cho JH, Rho S, et al. Direct transfer of alpha-synuclein from neuron to astroglia causes inflammatory responses in synucleinopathies. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2010;285(12):9262-72. Epub 2010/01/15.

116. Bar KJ, Facer P, Williams NS, Tam PK, Anand P. Glial-derived neurotrophic factor in human adult and fetal intestine and in Hirschsprung's disease. Gastroenterology. 1997;112(4):1381-5. Epub 1997/04/01.

117. Aube AC, Cabarrocas J, Bauer J, Philippe D, Aubert P, Doulay F, et al. Changes in enteric neurone phenotype and intestinal functions in a transgenic mouse model of enteric glia disruption. Gut. 2006;55(5):630-7. Epub 2005/10/21.

118. Savidge TC, Newman P, Pothoulakis C, Ruhl A, Neunlist M, Bourreille A, et al. Enteric glia regulate intestinal barrier function and inflammation via release of S-nitrosoglutathione. Gastroenterology. 2007;132(4):1344-58. Epub 2007/04/06.

119. Steinkamp M, Geerling I, Seufferlein T, von Boyen G, Egger B, Grossmann J, et al. Glialderived neurotrophic factor regulates apoptosis in colonic epithelial cells. Gastroenterology. 2003;124(7):1748-57. Epub 2003/06/14.

120. Van Landeghem L, Chevalier J, Mahe MM, Wedel T, Urvil P, Derkinderen P, et al. Enteric glia promote intestinal mucosal healing via activation of focal adhesion kinase and release of proEGF. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology. 2011;300(6):G976-87. Epub 2011/02/26.

121. Van Landeghem L, Mahe MM, Teusan R, Leger J, Guisle I, Houlgatte R, et al. Regulation of intestinal epithelial cells transcriptome by enteric glial cells: impact on intestinal epithelial barrier functions. BMC genomics. 2009;10:507. Epub 2009/11/04.

122. Bradley JS, Jr., Parr EJ, Sharkey KA. Effects of inflammation on cell proliferation in the myenteric plexus of the guinea-pig ileum. Cell and tissue research. 1997;289(3):455-61. Epub 1997/09/01.

123. Cirillo C, Sarnelli G, Turco F, Mango A, Grosso M, Aprea G, et al. Proinflammatory stimuli activates human-derived enteroglial cells and induces autocrine nitric oxide production. Neurogastroenterology and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society. 2011;23(9):e372-82. Epub 2011/07/19.

124. von Boyen GB, Steinkamp M, Reinshagen M, Schafer KH, Adler G, Kirsch J. Proinflammatory cytokines increase glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in enteric glia. Gut. 2004;53(2):222-8. Epub 2004/01/16.

125. Ruhl A, Franzke S, Collins SM, Stremmel W. Interleukin-6 expression and regulation in rat enteric glial cells. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology. 2001;280(6):G1163-71. Epub 2001/05/16.

126. von Boyen GB, Steinkamp M, Reinshagen M, Schafer KH, Adler G, Kirsch J. Nerve growth factor secretion in cultured enteric glia cells is modulated by proinflammatory cytokines. Journal of neuroendocrinology. 2006;18(11):820-5. Epub 2006/10/10.

127. Smith PD, Smythies LE, Shen R, Greenwell-Wild T, Gliozzi M, Wahl SM. Intestinal macrophages and response to microbial encroachment. Mucosal immunology. 2011;4(1):31-42. Epub 2010/10/22.

128. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, et al. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2003;52(1):65-70. Epub 2002/12/13.

129. Rovedatti L, Kudo T, Biancheri P, Sarra M, Knowles CH, Rampton DS, et al. Differential regulation of interleukin 17 and interferon gamma production in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2009;58(12):1629-36. Epub 2009/09/11.

130. Veltkamp C, Anstaett M, Wahl K, Moller S, Gangl S, Bachmann O, et al. Apoptosis of regulatory T lymphocytes is increased in chronic inflammatory bowel disease and reversed by anti-TNFalpha treatment. Gut. 2011;60(10):1345-53. Epub 2011/04/05.

131. Li Z, Arijs I, De Hertogh G, Vermeire S, Noman M, Bullens D, et al. Reciprocal changes of Foxp3 expression in blood and intestinal mucosa in IBD patients responding to infliximab. Inflammatory bowel diseases. 2010;16(8):1299-310. Epub 2010/03/03.

132. Allison MC, Poulter LW. Changes in phenotypically distinct mucosal macrophage populations may be a prerequisite for the development of inflammatory bowel disease. Clinical and experimental immunology. 1991;85(3):504-9. Epub 1991/09/01.

133. Rogler G, Andus T, Aschenbrenner E, Vogl D, Falk W, Scholmerich J, et al. Alterations of the phenotype of colonic macrophages in inflammatory bowel disease. European journal of gastroenterology & hepatology. 1997;9(9):893-9. Epub 1997/11/14.

134. Smythies LE, Sellers M, Clements RH, Mosteller-Barnum M, Meng G, Benjamin WH, et al. Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2005;115(1):66-75. Epub 2005/01/05.

135. Kamada N, Hisamatsu T, Okamoto S, Sato T, Matsuoka K, Arai K, et al. Abnormally differentiated subsets of intestinal macrophage play a key role in Th1-dominant chronic colitis through excess production of IL-12 and IL-23 in response to bacteria. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2005;175(10):6900-8. Epub 2005/11/08.

136. Hunter MM, Wang A, Parhar KS, Johnston MJ, Van Rooijen N, Beck PL, et al. In vitro-derived alternatively activated macrophages reduce colonic inflammation in mice. Gastroenterology. 2010;138(4):1395-405. Epub 2010/01/05.

137. Vos AC, Wildenberg ME, Arijs I, Duijvestein M, Verhaar AP, de Hertogh G, et al. Regulatory macrophages induced by infliximab are involved in healing in vivo and in vitro. Inflammatory bowel diseases. 2012;18(3):401-8. Epub 2011/09/22.

138. von Boyen GB, Schulte N, Pfluger C, Spaniol U, Hartmann C, Steinkamp M. Distribution of enteric glia and GDNF during gut inflammation. BMC gastroenterology. 2011;11:3. Epub 2011/01/18.
139. Cornet A, Savidge TC, Cabarrocas J, Deng WL, Colombel JF, Lassmann H, et al. Enterocolitis induced by autoimmune targeting of enteric glial cells: a possible mechanism in Crohn's disease? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.
2001;98(23):13306-11. Epub 2001/11/01.

140. National, Parkinson, Foundation. How is PD Treated? <u>http://www.parkinson.org/Parkinson-s-Disease/Treatment:</u> National Parkinson Foundation; [cited 2012 November 15].

141. Kosloski LM, Ha DM, Hutter JA, Stone DK, Pichler MR, Reynolds AD, et al. Adaptive immune regulation of glial homeostasis as an immunization strategy for neurodegenerative diseases. Journal of neurochemistry. 2010;114(5):1261-76. Epub 2010/06/08.

142. Michel-Monigadon D, Nerriere-Daguin V, Leveque X, Plat M, Venturi E, Brachet P, et al. Minocycline promotes long-term survival of neuronal transplant in the brain by inhibiting late microglial activation and T-cell recruitment. Transplantation. 2010;89(7):816-23. Epub 2010/03/11.

143. Casper D, Yaparpalvi U, Rempel N, Werner P. Ibuprofen protects dopaminergic neurons against glutamate toxicity in vitro. Neuroscience letters. 2000;289(3):201-4. Epub 2000/08/29.
144. Aubin N, Curet O, Deffois A, Carter C. Aspirin and salicylate protect against MPTP-induced

dopamine depletion in mice. Journal of neurochemistry. 1998;71(4):1635-42. Epub 1998/09/29.
145. Di Matteo V, Benigno A, Pierucci M, Giuliano DA, Crescimanno G, Esposito E, et al. 7nitroindazole protects striatal dopaminergic neurons against MPP+-induced degeneration: an in vivo microdialysis study. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2006;1089:462-71. Epub 2007/01/31.

146. Meinert CL, McCaffrey LD, Breitner JC. Alzheimer's Disease Anti-inflammatory Prevention Trial: design, methods, and baseline results. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 2009;5(2):93-104. Epub 2009/03/31.

147. Bombardier C, Laine L, Reicin A, Shapiro D, Burgos-Vargas R, Davis B, et al. Comparison of upper gastrointestinal toxicity of rofecoxib and naproxen in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. VIGOR Study Group. The New England journal of medicine. 2000;343(21):1520-8, 2 p following 8. Epub 2000/11/23.

148. Du Y, Ma Z, Lin S, Dodel RC, Gao F, Bales KR, et al. Minocycline prevents nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the MPTP model of Parkinson's disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2001;98(25):14669-74. Epub 2001/11/29.

149. Tomas-Camardiel M, Rite I, Herrera AJ, de Pablos RM, Cano J, Machado A, et al. Minocycline reduces the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory reaction, peroxynitrite-mediated nitration of proteins, disruption of the blood-brain barrier, and damage in the nigral dopaminergic system. Neurobiology of disease. 2004;16(1):190-201. Epub 2004/06/23.

150. NINDS. A pilot clinical trial of creatine and minocycline in early Parkinson disease: 18-month results. Clinical neuropharmacology. 2008;31(3):141-50. Epub 2008/06/04.

151. Gordon PH, Moore DH, Miller RG, Florence JM, Verheijde JL, Doorish C, et al. Efficacy of minocycline in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase III randomised trial. Lancet neurology. 2007;6(12):1045-53. Epub 2007/11/06.

152. Ros-Bernal F, Hunot S, Herrero MT, Parnadeau S, Corvol JC, Lu L, et al. Microglial glucocorticoid receptors play a pivotal role in regulating dopaminergic neurodegeneration in parkinsonism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011;108(16):6632-7. Epub 2011/04/07.

153. Kurkowska-Jastrzebska I, Litwin T, Joniec I, Ciesielska A, Przybylkowski A, Czlonkowski A, et al. Dexamethasone protects against dopaminergic neurons damage in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. International immunopharmacology. 2004;4(10-11):1307-18. Epub 2004/08/18.

154. Neuraltus, Pharmaceuticals. <u>http://www.neuraltus.com/pages/news:</u> Neuraltus Pharmaceuticals; [cited 2012 December 4].

155. Stemberger S, Jamnig A, Stefanova N, Lepperdinger G, Reindl M, Wenning GK. Mesenchymal stem cells in a transgenic mouse model of multiple system atrophy: immunomodulation and neuroprotection. PloS one. 2011;6(5):e19808. Epub 2011/06/01.

156. Fernandez-Martin A, Gonzalez-Rey E, Chorny A, Ganea D, Delgado M. Vasoactive intestinal peptide induces regulatory T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. European journal of immunology. 2006;36(2):318-26. Epub 2006/01/13.

157. Gonzalez-Rey E, Fernandez-Martin A, Chorny A, Delgado M. Vasoactive intestinal peptide induces CD4+, CD25+ T regulatory cells with therapeutic effect in collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2006;54(3):864-76. Epub 2006/03/02.

158. Delgado M, Ganea D. Cutting edge: is vasoactive intestinal peptide a type 2 cytokine? Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2001;166(5):2907-12. Epub 2001/02/24.

159. Delgado M, Ganea D. Neuroprotective effect of vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease by blocking microglial activation. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2003;17(8):944-6. Epub 2003/03/11.

160. Korkmaz O, Ay H, Ulupinar E, Tuncel N. Vasoactive intestinal peptide enhances striatal plasticity and prevents dopaminergic cell loss in Parkinsonian rats. Journal of molecular neuroscience : MN. 2012;48(3):565-73. Epub 2012/05/01.

161. Delgado M, Varela N, Gonzalez-Rey E. Vasoactive intestinal peptide protects against betaamyloid-induced neurodegeneration by inhibiting microglia activation at multiple levels. Glia. 2008;56(10):1091-103. Epub 2008/04/30.

162. Cortesini C, Cianchi F, Infantino A, Lise M. Nitric oxide synthase and VIP distribution in enteric nervous system in idiopathic chronic constipation. Digestive diseases and sciences. 1995;40(11):2450-5. Epub 1995/11/01.

163. van't Land B, Schijf M, van Esch BC, van Bergenhenegouwen J, Bastiaans J, Schouten B, et al. Regulatory T-cells have a prominent role in the immune modulated vaccine response by specific oligosaccharides. Vaccine. 2010;28(35):5711-7. Epub 2010/07/06.

164. van Hoffen E, Korthagen NM, de Kivit S, Schouten B, Bardoel B, Duivelshof A, et al. Exposure of intestinal epithelial cells to UV-killed Lactobacillus GG but not Bifidobacterium breve enhances the effector immune response in vitro. International archives of allergy and immunology. 2010;152(2):159-68. Epub 2009/12/18.

165. Jonkers D, Penders J, Masclee A, Pierik M. Probiotics in the management of inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review of intervention studies in adult patients. Drugs. 2012;72(6):803-23. Epub 2012/04/20.

166. Benjamin J, Makharia G, Ahuja V, Anand Rajan KD, Kalaivani M, Gupta SD, et al. Glutamine and whey protein improve intestinal permeability and morphology in patients with Crohn's disease: a randomized controlled trial. Digestive diseases and sciences. 2012;57(4):1000-12. Epub 2011/11/01.

167. Monk JM, Jia Q, Callaway E, Weeks B, Alaniz RC, McMurray DN, et al. Th17 cell accumulation is decreased during chronic experimental colitis by (n-3) PUFA in Fat-1 mice. The Journal of nutrition. 2012;142(1):117-24. Epub 2011/12/02.

168. Abdo H, Mahe MM, Derkinderen P, Bach-Ngohou K, Neunlist M, Lardeux B. The omega-6 fatty acid derivative 15-deoxy-Delta(1)(2),(1)(4)-prostaglandin J2 is involved in neuroprotection by enteric glial cells against oxidative stress. The Journal of physiology. 2012;590(Pt 11):2739-50. Epub 2012/04/05.

169. Scheltens P, Twisk JW, Blesa R, Scarpini E, von Arnim CA, Bongers A, et al. Efficacy of Souvenaid in mild Alzheimer's disease: results from a randomized, controlled trial. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2012;31(1):225-36. Epub 2012/07/07.

170. Heanue TA, Pachnis V. Enteric nervous system development and Hirschsprung's disease: advances in genetic and stem cell studies. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2007;8(6):466-79. Epub 2007/05/22.